FILED 07-02-2021 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS—DISTRICT III

Case No. 2021AP485-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

BROOKE K. EDER,

Defendant-Appellant.

On Appeal from a Judgment of Conviction Entered in the Barron County Circuit Court, the Honorable James C. Babler, Presiding

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

DAVID J. SUSENS Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1099463

Office of the State Public Defender P.O. Box 7862 Madison, WI 53707-7862 (608) 267-2124 susensd@opd.wi.gov

Attorney for Defendant-Appellant

ISSUES PRESENTED

This case involves two search warrants.

The first warrant authorized police to enter Brooke Eder's apartment to find a man named Joshua Estes. Police executed that warrant and arrested Estes. Then, rather than leave, they conducted a nonconsensual warrantless search of the basement of Eder's apartment building, finding drugs and drug paraphernalia.

Based on the evidence discovered in Eder's basement, police got a second search warrant. It authorized them to search the basement (which they'd already done) and Eder's bedroom (where they found more drugs).

In two separate motions, Eder asked the circuit court to suppress the evidence found in the basement of her apartment building and in her bedroom. The circuit court denied her motions.

1. Was the first search warrant defective because the affidavit failed to state probable cause?

The circuit court held that affidavit to the initial search warrant established probable cause.

2. Did Eder have standing to challenge the constitutionality of the warrantless search of the basement under the Fourth Amendment?

The circuit court held that Eder did not have standing because she did not have a reasonable expectation of privacy in the basement.

POSITION ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Eder does not request oral argument or publication. The issues presented are governed by well-established legal principles and the parties can fully address them in the briefs.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On April 25, 2019, Detective Michael Carroll of the Barron County Sheriff's Department executed two separate search warrants at Brooke Eder's apartment in the Village of Brill, WI. (R.22:4-8; App. 14-18). The first warrant identified Joshua Estes as the object of the search. (R.21:1; App. 4). After entering the apartment and taking Estes into custody, law enforcement officers entered and searched the basement of the apartment building. (R.22:4; App. 14). While walking through the basement, Detective Carroll discovered suspected methamphetamine, a digital scale, and paraphernalia on a table in an area of the basement that was set up as a small living room. (R.1:2).

That same day, based on his discovery of suspected methamphetamine in the basement of Eder's apartment building, Detective Carroll obtained

Filed 07-02-2021

a second search warrant authorizing him to search Eder's apartment and the basement. (R.1:2) The officers immediately executed the second warrant and discovered suspected methamphetamine in a jewelry box in Eder's bedroom. (R.1:3).

The State filed joined charges against Eder and Estes in a single criminal complaint. (R.1). The State charged Estes with possession with intent to deliver methamphetamine (count 1) and possession of drug paraphernalia (count 2), and Eder with possession of methamphetamine (count 3). (R.1:1-2).

Eder later filed the first of two motions to suppress. (R.20). She argued that the first search warrant was faulty because it lacked information sufficient to establish probable cause. She also argued that the court should suppress the evidence discovered in her bedroom because it was the fruit of the poisonous tree: law enforcement obtained it while executing the second search warrant, which resulted from both the faulty first warrant and an unlawful search of her apartment building's basement. (R.20).

The circuit court held a non-evidentiary hearing on Eder's first motion to suppress. The court determined that the purpose of the hearing was to review the first search warrant to determine whether there was probable cause. (R.35:3-4; App. 21-22). Eder argued that the information in the affidavit was stale and—even if it were not stale—did not establish probable cause. (R.35:9-11, 13; App. 27-29, 31). The State conceded—and the court held—that the affidavit

Filed 07-02-2021

for the first warrant did not authorize a search of the basement. (R.35:23-24; App. 41-42).

At the hearing, the court made several factual findings related to the first warrant. It found that Eder receives her mail at the residence listed in the first search warrant. (R.35:14; App. 32). The county "has a system indicating that" the address in the first warrant is Estes's address. (R.35:14; App. 32). Estes was prohibited from being at the address listed in the first warrant because of a CPS agreement (R.35:15; App. 33). Officers saw Estes outside the residence listed in the search warrant five days before the court issued first warrant. (R.35:14-15; App. 32-33).

The circuit court held that the order prohibiting Estes from being at the address listed in the first warrant made it less likely that he would be there. (R.35:13-14; App. 31-32). The circuit court did not consider the information in the paragraphs 12 and 14 of the affidavit related to uncorroborated statements of a confidential informant. (R.35:19-20, 30; App. 37-38, 48). Ultimately the circuit court found that the affidavit was enough to establish probable cause that the residence listed in the affidavit was Estes's residence, but it left open whether the staleness of the information negated probable cause. (R.35:14-16; App. 32-34).

The circuit court asked the parties to brief the issue of whether the information in the affidavit for the first search warrant was stale. (R.35:25; App. 43). Later, it issued a written decision denying Eder's first

Filed 07-02-2021

motion to suppress because the affidavit contained probable cause and that the information in the affidavit was not stale. (R.29:1-3; App. 50-52). The court found that it was reasonable to believe that Estes would be at the property described in the first search warrant "due to an ongoing relationship with Ms. Eder" and because officers saw Estes at the address on April 19, 2019. (R.29:3; App. 52). Without reaching the question of whether the warrantless search of the basement was valid, the court held that "because the first search warrant was valid, there is no basis to suppress the second search warrant." (R.29:3; App. 52).

Eder then filed a second motion to suppress. She argued that the court should suppress the evidence obtained in her basement and bedroom because the second warrant contained information tainted by the warrantless search of the basement. (R.33). The State responded with a letter to the court requesting a hearing on whether Eder and Estes had standing to challenge the search of the basement. (R.34).

The court held an evidentiary hearing on the question of standing. The court heard testimony from Estes, Eder, Mr. Johnson (the main floor tenant), and Mr. Smekar (the landlord/owner). (R.48; App. 53-110). Based on the testimony, the parties agreed to submit their arguments in writing. (R.48:54; App. 106). After the parties briefed the issue, they reconvened for another hearing on standing, and the court delivered an oral ruling.

Filed 07-02-2021

While there was some conflicting testimony, the court made several findings of fact. It found that the apartment building had three units but tenants only occupied two units when the court issued the warrants here. (R.65:9; App. 119). Estes and Eder rented one of the upstairs units from Smekar, the owner. (R.65:8; App. 118). Johnson rented the main floor unit and the basement was part of his lease. (R.65:9; App. 119).

As to the basement, the court found that Smekar and Johnson allowed Eder and Estes to use the basement. (R.65:9; App. 119). Estes and Eder paid rent so they could use the basement and used it regularly for storage and for Estes to work on projects. (R.65: 9-11; App. 119-21). Estes put a lock on the outside door to the basement, locked it, and gave one his two keys to Johnson. (R.65:9; App. 119). Johnson had access to the basement through his apartment but did not regularly use the basement because it was wet. (R.65:11; App. 121).

Based on those facts, the court denied Eder's motion to suppress based on a lack of standing. (R.65:13; App. 123). The court applied a two-prong test set out in a long line of cases. On the first prong, the court held that Eder had a subjective expectation of privacy in the basement area because they used it regularly, had permission, and put a lock on the door to exclude others. (R.65:10-11; App. 120-21).

The court next analyzed the six factors of the second prong of the test and held that Eder's subjective expectation of privacy was not reasonable. (R.65:

Filed 07-02-2021

11-13; App. 121-23). First, the court held that Estes and Eder met four of the six factors. The court held that they had a property interest in the basement, they were legitimately on the premises, they took precautions to seek privacy in the basement, and they used the basement for a private use. (R.65:11-12; App. 121-22).

Next, the court held that Estes and Eder did not have complete dominion and control and a right to exclude others. While Estes and Eder did exclude others from the basement, the court held that Johnson had access and was the only person who had a right to exclude others. (R.65:12-13; App. 122-23). The court also held that the basement "was not a regular common area of the apartment building"; it was "just part of an apartment lease that Mr. Johnson allowed someone else to use." (R.65:12-13; App. 122-23).

Finally, the court held that Estes and Eder's claim of privacy was "not consistent with historical notions of privacy." (R.65:13; App. 123). According to the court, Johnson could go into the basement at any time; Estes and Eder could not have a reasonable expectation of privacy in the basement when "they knew that the real tenant could have accessed [it] at any time." (R.65:13; App. 123).

After the court denied her motions to suppress, Eder entered a guilty plea and was convicted of misdemeanor possession of amphetamine and placed on probation. (R.59). This appeal follows.

ARGUMENT

On April 25, 2019, the Barron County Sheriff's violated Brooke Eder's Department Amendment rights three times. First, the police entered her apartment to execute a search warrant that the court issued based on an affidavit insufficient to establish probable cause. Next, the police conducted a warrantless search of the basement of her apartment that did not fall within any of the delineated exceptions to the warrant requirement. Finally, the police entered Eder's apartment to execute a second search warrant that law enforcement obtained as a direct result of the fruits of the prior constitutional violations.

The methamphetamine discovered during the execution of the second search warrant prompted Eder's prosecution. The second search warrant could not have issued if the police had not conducted a warrantless search of the basement. But, despite Eder's repeated arguments on the issue, the circuit court never directly addressed the lawfulness of the warrantless search of the basement. This Court should reverse the circuit court's denial of both Eder's motions to suppress because the execution of the first search warrant, the warrantless search of the basement, and the execution of the second search warrant were all unreasonable under the Fourth Amendment.

Filed 07-02-2021

I. The Warrant Requirement of the Fourth Amendment.

The Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution and Article I, §11 of the Wisconsin against Constitution protect unreasonable government searches and seizures. State v. Dearborn, 2010 WI 84, ¶14, 327 Wis. 2d 252, 786 N.W.2d 97. Wisconsin courts interpret the protections of Article I, §11 "identically to the protections under the Fourth Amendment as defined by the United States Supreme Court." Id.

The text of the Constitution demands that "the ultimate touchstone of the Fourth Amendment is reasonableness." Brigham City v. Stuart, 547 U.S. 398, 403 (2006). To ensure that a government invasion into an individual's privacy and security is reasonable, the Fourth Amendment generally requires that the government first obtain a warrant. Riley v. California, 573 U.S. 373, 282 (2014). Warrantless searches are "per se unreasonable" and courts may only permit them in accordance with a few "jealously and carefully drawn" exceptions. State v. Sanders, 2008 WI 85, ¶27, 311 Wis. 2d 257, 752 N.W.2d 713; Georgia v. Randolph, 547 U.S. 103, 109 (2006).

A search based on a warrant, meanwhile, is reasonable only if the warrant stems from a judicial finding of probable cause. State v. DeSmidt, 155 Wis. 2d 119, 131, 454 N.W.2d 780. Probable cause requires a judicial examination of the totality of the circumstances presented in the affidavit, including the

Filed 07-02-2021

"veracity and basis of knowledge of persons supplying hearsay information," to determine whether there is a "fair probability that contraband or evidence of a crime will be found in a particular place." *Illinois v. Gates*, 462 U.S. 213, 238 (1983) (internal citations omitted).

II. **First** Search The Warrant Was Unsupported by Probable Cause and the Evidence Discovered as a Result Should Be Suppressed.

A. Introduction

Eder filed her first motion to suppress arguing that the court should suppress evidence which led to her conviction because it was the fruit of the first search warrant which was not based on probable cause. (R.33). Eder argued that the officers' execution of the first enabled their unlawful entry into the basement which led to a second search warrant enabling the search of her bedroom which yielded drugs. Thus, the invalidity of the first warrant dictates suppression of the evidence found in the basement and Eder's bedroom because it is fruit of the poisonous tree. Wong Sun v. United States, 371 U.S. 471, 488 (1963).

The circuit court denied the first motion to suppress without addressing the search of the basement based on a finding that the first warrant rested on probable cause. The court should have analyzed the search of the basement, and suppressed the evidence based on that warrantless search as shown below. Either way, whether law enforcement used evidence to obtain the second warrant tainted by a single unreasonable search or several, the circuit court erred in denying Eder's first motion to suppress.

B. Standard of review.

In general, when reviewing motions to suppress, appellate courts employ a two-step analysis. Courts review a circuit court's findings of fact under the clearly erroneous standard, but review the circuit court's application of constitutional principles to those facts de novo. *State v. Anker*, 2014 WI App 107, ¶10, 357 Wis. 2d 565, 855 N.W.2d 483 (citations omitted).

In reviewing whether probable cause exists for the issuance of a search warrant, this Court must confine itself to the record before the warrant-issuing judge and gives great deference to that judge's determination. State v. DeSmidt, 155 Wis. 2d 199, 132, 454 N.W.2d 780 (1990). The person challenging the warrant must establish that the evidence before the warrant-issuing judge was clearly insufficient. Id. The duty of the appellate court is to ensure that the magistrate had a substantial basis for concluding that probable cause existed. Id. at 133.

C. The first warrant was not based on probable cause.

Based on the totality of the circumstances before the warrant-issuing judge, Detective Carroll's affidavit supporting his first search warrant application did not establish probable cause that "contraband or evidence of a crime" would be found at

Filed 07-02-2021

Eder's apartment. Gates, 462 U.S. at 238. Paragraphs 12-15 of the affidavit contained the only information specific to the particular object and location of the search. (R.21:3-4; App. 6-7). The circuit court correctly disregarded paragraph 14 because—as the State conceded—the information from a purported confidential informant contained indicia of no reliability. (R.35:24, 30; App. 42, 48).

But the court found probable cause that "a detached and neutral magistrate would believe that" Estes would be present at the residence listed in the warrant. (R.35:30, App. 48). The court ultimately denied the motion to suppress, holding that the information in the affidavit was not stale so there was probable cause to issue the first warrant. (R.29:2-3; App. 51-52). Even under the deferential "clearly insufficient" standard, the warrant-issuing judge erred in issuing the warrant and the court erred in denying the motion to suppress.

Courts must determine whether probable cause exists based on the totality of the circumstances by "invoking the practical considerations of everyday life on which reasonable and prudent men, not legal technicians, act." Gates, 462 U.S. at 230-31. The totality of the circumstances available to the warrantissuing judge in the affidavit did not establish probable cause.

According to the affidavit, officers saw Estes outside the premises identified in the warrant five days before they submitted the affidavit. (R.21:3;

App. 6). Estes "has an address listed through Barron County RMS system" at those premises but was prohibited from being there by a child protective services order. (R.21:3-4; App. 6-7). Eder is Estes' "girlfriend" and receives her mail in the upstairs apartment of the premises. Officers saw Eder's cars had parked there at some undisclosed time. (R.21:3-4; App. 6-7).

The affidavit established that Estes was outside the premises on April 19, 2019. Law enforcement could have—but apparently decided not to—arrest Estes at that time based on an arrest warrant. But the affidavit did not establish a fair probability they would find him inside the premises on April 24, 2021 because the information was stale and the child protective services order made it substantially unlikely that Estes would be there on April 24.

To establish probable cause, the information in the affidavit must be "so closely related to the time of the issue of the warrant as to justify a finding of probable cause at that time." Sgro v. United States, 287 U.S. 206 (1932). Staleness depends on the nature of the circumstances of each case, not "a counting of the days or months" between the information in the affidavit and the issuance of the warrant. State v. Ehnert, 160 Wis. 2d 464, 469-70, 466 N.W.2d 237 (Ct. App. 1991). The "nature of what is being sought" influences "where the line between stale and fresh information should be drawn in a particular case." *Id.* at 470.

Filed 07-02-2021

While five days is not a particularly long time, Estes was the object of the search warrant, and people are highly mobile. A single observation that a particular person was in a particular place at a particular time says very little about whether they will be there five days later. While the affidavit may have established that Estes lived there at one point, the affidavit did not establish that it was likely he would present at the listed address on April 24.

To the contrary, the only timely information in the affidavit established that Estes was prohibited from being present on April 24. (R.21:4; App. 7). The affidavit states that on April 19, the address for Estes "listed through Barron County RMS" was the address in the warrant. (R.21:3; App. 6). But there is no information about what Barron County RMS is or proof that the address listed there was accurate or up-to-date even on April 19. And even if that address were accurate on April 19, there is no proof that the prohibition on Estes' presence there was in place on April 19. Based on the information in the affidavit obtained on April 24, Estes was prohibited from residing there and there is no evidence to suggest that Estes was violating that prohibition.

The validity of the warrant here depends on whether the affidavit established "probable cause to believe that" Estes was "linked to the commission of a crime" and was "likely to be found in the place designated in the search warrant. Ehnert, 160 Wis. 2d at 470. Because staleness is a question of timeliness and because search warrants that identify people as

Filed 07-02-2021

the object of a search are novel in Wisconsin case law, the law on the execution of arrest warrants in a home is instructive. Entry into a home to execute a valid arrest warrant at is reasonable only when the officer has a reasonable belief that the person identified in the warrant is home at the time of entry. State v. Blanco, 2000 WI App 119, ¶10, 237 Wis. 2d 395, 614 N.W.2d 512.

affidavit here establishes neither reasonable belief that Estes lives at the residence, nor a reasonable belief that Estes would be at the residence at the time of entry. As a result, the search warrant was unlawful and the officers had no basis to enter the home to execute the outstanding warrants for Estes' arrest so the entry into Eder's home violated the Fourth Amendment. The circuit court erred in denying the first motion to suppress.

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