Case 2021AP000485 Brief of Respondent Filed 01-03-2022 Page 1 of 21

FILED 01-03-2022 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT III

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent, Circuit Court Case No.

2019CF000121

-VS-

BROOKE K EDER,

Appeal Case No. 2021AP000485

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION ENTERED IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR BARRON COUNTY, BRANCH II, THE HONORABLE JAMES C. BABLER, PRESIDING

BRIEF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

JOHN M. O'BOYLE Assistant District Attorney State Bar No. 1017287

Attorney for the State of Wisconsin, Plaintiff-Respondent

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

ARGUMENT

I. The April 24 warrant affidavit did contain probable cause to support the issuance of a search warrant for Ms. Eder's apartment to look for Joshua Estes.

The Fourth Amendment of the United States Constitution and § 11 of the Wisconsin Constitution both recite that, "No warrant shall issue but upon probable cause, supported by oath or affirmation, and that particularly describing the place to be search, and the persons or things to be seized."

Generally, when reviewing motions to suppress, a two-prong analysis is utilized. First, the Court reviews the Circuit Court's findings of fact, and will uphold them unless they are clearly erroneous. Second, the Court reviews the application of constitutional principles to those facts under a de novo standard. <u>State v. Felix</u>, 339 Wis.2d 670, 811 N.W.2d 775 (Wis. 2012)

The appellate review of an affidavit's sufficiency to support the issuance of a search warrant is limited. State v. Reed, 156 Wis.2d 546, 457 N.W.2d 494 (Wis. Ct. App. 1990). An appellate court is to pay great deference to the determination made by the issuing entity. In doubtful or marginal cases, the determination should be governed by preference to be accorded to warrants. State v. Ehnert, 466 Wis.2d 237, 160 N.W.2d 464 (Wis. Ct. App. 1991) citing Illinois v. Gates, 462 U.S. 213 (1983)

Probable cause is a fluid concept, turning on the assessment of probabilities in a particular factual context. Id. at 232. Whether probable cause exists must be

Case 2021AP000485 Brief of Respondent Filed 01-03-2022 Page 12 of 21

determined by examining the totality of the circumstances. Id. at 230. The probable cause standard is a practical, nontechnical one invoking the practical considerations of everyday life on which the reasonable and prudent me, not legal technicians, act. Id. at 231. <u>State v. Ehnert</u>, 160 Wis. 2d 464, 469, 466 N.W.2d 237, 238 (1991)

Detective Carroll's affidavit for the April 24 warrant contained four paragraphs outlining the basis for the belief that Joshua Estes would be located at Brooke Eder's apartment located at 2759 23rd ½ street located in Brill, Wisconsin. ¶12 sets forth the observation Detective Carroll made on April 19, 2019, while conducting surveillance on the above residence. Detective Carroll specifically observed Mr. Estes outside the above residence because he recognized him. Detective Carroll also indicated in ¶12 that he observed Brooke Eder's vehicles parked at the residence. In ¶13 of his affidavit, Detective Carroll set forth information that he learned through the Barron County RMS system that Joshua Estes had an address listed on 2759 23rd ½ street. The State agreed that ¶14 could be disregarded by the Circuit Court in its analysis. In ¶15 of his affidavit, Detective Carroll confirmed on April 24, 2019 that Brooke Eder received mail at Apartment #1 at the above address. That confirmation came from a United States Postal Inspector. In ¶15, Detective Carroll also confirmed with the Barron County Health and Human Services Department that Ms. Eder lived in the upstairs apartment and that Joshua Estes was not to be on the property due to a child protective service agreement. (R-18) These are the facts that were presented to the Honorable Maureen Boyle on April 24, 2019.

As the Trial Court noted in its decision, there was a reasonable inference that Ms. Eder and Mr. Estes were in an ongoing relationship. There was also a reasonable inference that if Mr. Estes was there on April 19, 2019, it is probable he might be there on April 24, 2019. When an activity is protracted in a continuous nature, the passage of time diminishes in significance. <u>United States v. Johnson</u>, 461 F.2d 285 (10th Cir. 1972) The facts set forth in Detective Carroll's affidavit

Case 2021AP000485 Brief of Respondent Filed 01-03-2022 Page 13 of 21

support a reasonable inference and conclusion that Ms. Eder and Mr. Estes would likely continue their relationship and have contact with one another at her apartment. That was not an unreasonable conclusion for the Court to draw when it granted the April 24 warrant. The Trial Court's conclusion that there was a reasonable inference that this relationship was ongoing, was further bolstered by the information regarding the no contact provision imposed by the Department of Health and Human Services. When a relationship is ongoing, the probability of contact between Mr. Estes and Ms. Eder at her apartment would be higher than if they were not in a relationship. In the context of the facts in this case, there was a high likelihood these two individuals had an ongoing relationship and therefore a likelihood that Mr. Estes would be at her apartment on April 24, 2019. The affidavit did not have to set forth with specificity that Mr. Estes actually lived at the residence on April 24, 2019. It only had to set forth a reasonable probability that he might be at the residence given his relationship with Ms. Eder.

Search warrants under both the Fourth Amendment and the counterpart under the Wisconsin Constitution, clearly allow for a search warrant to be used to seize a person. The defense reliance on <u>State v. Blanco</u>, 237 Wis.2d 395, 614 N.W.2d 512 (Wis. Ct. App. 200), is misplaced since these issues in this case do not involve the entry into a residence to execute an arrest warrant. The affidavit for the search warrant to look for Mr. Estes in Ms. Eder's apartment did not require Detective Carroll to set forth facts that Joshua Estes actually would be in the apartment on April 24, 2019.

The affidavit of Detective Carroll, relative to the April 24 warrant, contained probable cause to support the issuance of the search warrant for Ms. Eder's apartment to look for Mr. Estes. The Trial Court properly denied the motion to suppress on the grounds of insufficiency of probable cause in the affidavit for the April 24 warrant.

Case 2021AP000485 Brief of Respondent Filed 01-03-2022 Page 14 of 21

The State would point out that the second search warrant that Detective Carroll applied for, which was the April 25 warrant, was not based on anything found during the execution of the April 24 warrant. It is clear from the affidavit of Detective Carroll, relative to the April 25 warrant, that the only thing found during the execution of the April 24 warrant was Joshua Estes. (R-19; 1-8; App. 108-115) ¶¶16 and 17 of Detective Carroll's affidavit, clearly indicate that the basis for the April 25 warrant to search for methamphetamine in Ms. Eder's apartment, came as a result of him going into the basement of the apartment building and finding what he suspected to be methamphetamine. He went into the basement of the apartment building as a result of citizens watching the execution of the search warrant, who directed him to the basement. He did not go into the basement as part of the execution of the April 24 warrant for Mr. Estes. The drugs that formed the basis for Ms. Eder's conviction in this case were located in her bedroom after the execution of the April 25 warrant. That was the whole point of the April 25 warrant. The execution of the April 24 warrant for Mr. Estes did not result in the officers finding drugs in her bedroom during the course of the execution of that search warrant.

Consequently, even if this court was to determine that the April 24 affidavit lacked probable cause, it does not follow that the search of Ms. Eder's apartment by way of the April 25 warrant is tainted and requires suppression of the drugs found under the fruit of the poisonous tree doctrine set forth under Wong Sun v. United States, 371 U.S. 471 (1963). As recognized in Wong Sun, the critical question is, "Whether, granting establishment of the primary illegality, the evidence which instant objection is made has been come at by exploitation of that illegality or instead by some means sufficiently distinguishable to be purged of the primary taint." State v. Nehls, 111 Wis.2d 594, 331 N.W.2d 603 (Wis. Ct. App. 1983) citing Wong Sun at 488

The defense argument that the execution of the April 24 warrant directly resulted in the drugs being found in Ms. Eder's bedroom when the April 25 warrant

Case 2021AP000485 Brief of Respondent Filed 01-03-2022 Page 15 of 21

was executed, ignores the fact that the April 25 warrant was based on information that came to Detective Carroll, independent of the execution of the April 24 warrant looking for Mr. Estes. The drugs that are the basis for Ms. Eder's conviction were not found in her bedroom during the execution of the April 24 warrant. The impetus for the subsequent search of her bedroom by way of the April 25 warrant came about as a result of information from the citizens watching the execution of the April 24 warrant, as well as the information learned from the other tenant in the building, Mr. Johnson, that Joshua Estes used the basement.

The Trial Court never directly addressed this issue. It denied Ms. Eder's motion regarding the April 25 warrant on the grounds that she lacked standing to challenge the entry into the basement. It also denied her motion that the April 25 warrant lacked probable cause. The Circuit Court's ruling on the probable cause issue relative to the April 25 warrant was not in error given Detective Carroll's affidavit.

II. Ms. Eder lacked standing to challenge the entry and search of the basement by Detective Carroll after the execution of the April 24 warrant and prior to the obtainment, and execution, of the April 25 warrant.

When assessing a defendant's standing to challenge a search under the Fourth Amendment, the critical inquiry is, "whether the person... has a legitimate expectation of privacy in the invaded place." <u>State v. Trecroci</u>, 246 Wis.2d 261, 630 N.W.2d 555 (Wis. Ct. App. 2001) Whether a search is reasonable under the Fourth Amendment is a question of law that is reviewed de novo. Whether a defendant has standing to raise a Fourth Amendment claim also presents a question of law. <u>Trecroci</u>, ¶23.

A defendant bears the burden of establishing his or her reasonable expectation of privacy by a preponderance of the evidence. <u>State v. Whitrock</u>, 161 Wis.2d 960, 468 N.W.2d 696 (Wis. 1991)

Whether a person has a reasonable expectation of privacy depends on a two-pronged test as to (1), whether the individual has exhibited an actual, subjective expectation of privacy in the area inspected and in the items seized; and (2), whether society is willing to recognize such an expectation of privacy as reasonable. State v. Eskridge 256 Wis.2d 314, 647 N.W.2d 434 (Wis. Ct. App. 2002) and State v. Trecroci 246 Wis.2d 261, 630 N.W.2d 555 (Wis. Ct. App. 2001) The defendants bear the burden of establishing their reasonable expectation of privacy by a preponderance of the evidence. The second prong of the above test is an objective test. On this element of the test, the Court is to look to the following factors:

- 1. Whether the person had a property interest in the premises;
- 2. Whether the person was legitimately on the premises;
- 3. Whether the person had complete dominion and control and the right to exclude others;
- 4. Whether the person took precautions customarily taken by those seeking privacy;
- 5. When the person put the property to some private use; and
- 6. Whether the claim of privacy is consistent with historical notions of privacy.

If the defendants satisfy all six factors they prevail on the second prong of the <u>Trecroci</u> test. <u>Eskridge</u>, 214 Wis.2d, ¶16.

These factors are the same factors noted in <u>State v. Dixon</u>, 177 Wis.2d 961, 501 N.W.2d 442 (Wis. 1993) which involved an issue of standing regarding property found in a vehicle. In State v. Bruski, 299 Wis.2d 177, 727 N.W.2d 503

Case 2021AP000485 Brief of Respondent Filed 01-03-2022 Page 17 of 21

(Wis. 2007) which also involved a vehicle, the Court held that this list of factors from <u>Dixon</u> was neither controlling nor exclusive. Under <u>Bruski</u>, it appears that the Court should consider the totality of the circumstances when evaluating the second prong of the <u>Dixon</u> factors. Neither <u>Trecroci</u> or <u>Eskridge</u> was cited by the Court in <u>Bruski</u>. Both <u>Trecruci</u> and <u>Eskridge</u> dealt with searches concerning dwellings. In <u>Eskridge</u>, the defendant only satisfied 3 of the 6 factors. In <u>Trecroci</u>, the defendant met all 6 of the factors.

It is clear from the testimony in this case that this was essentially a two unit apartment building. Ms. Eder and Mr. Estes had the upper unit and Mr. Johnson had the unit on the main level and also had the basement as part of his lease. The basement was attached to his apartment and also had an outside door to access it. It was not part of the apartment Ms. Eder and Mr. Estes rented. At best, they shared the basement with Mr. Johnson, who clearly had unfettered access to the basement at any time. His utilities were also located in the basement.

In applying the six factors from <u>Trecroci</u>, the only extent of a property interest Ms. Eder had in the basement, was the fact that Mr. Johnson let her and Mr. Estes use the basement. It was not part of their lease, nor could it even be accessed from their apartment. It is clear that Mr. Johnson could have excluded them from using the basement at any time if he chose to do so since it was not part of their lease that they could enforce in any manner. Ms. Eder and Mr. Estes also did not have the right to exclude Mr. Johnson from the basement. The State would submit that the Circuit Court's finding on this factor was in error.

The State would concede that Ms. Eder and Mr. Estes had permission to use the basement which supports the Circuit Court's finding that Ms. Eder met the second Trecroci factor.

It is also clear that the defendants did not have complete dominion and control in the right to exclude others from the basement. Mr. Estes's own testimony

Case 2021AP000485 Brief of Respondent Filed 01-03-2022 Page 18 of 21

undercuts this. (R-59; 14; App. 166) The basement was clearly accessible through Mr. Johnson's apartment as his utilities were located in the basement, and his lease included the use of the basement, if he chose to use it. At no point did the defendants exclude him from using the basement, nor did they have complete dominion and control over the basement, notwithstanding their testimony placing a lock on the outside basement door. There was also no evidence presented by them that they prevented Mr. Johnson from using the basement.

In fact, Mr. Estes testified that Mr. Johnson had people in and out of the basement, and people from the public were in and out of the basement all the time. (R-59; 14; App. 166) That testimony hardly comports with Mr. Estes and Ms. Eder having complete dominion and control over the basement or that they took precautions customarily taken by those seeking privacy. The Circuit Court's finding on this factor was not clearly erroneous.

The State would concede that putting a lock on the outside door would constitute taking precautions customarily taken by those seeking privacy, and the Court's finding on this point is not clearly erroneous. However, Mr. Estes and Ms. Eder provided a key to Mr. Johnson to give him access to the basement.

Finally, as the Court in <u>Eskridge</u> noted, historical notions of privacy do not seem to encompass "common areas" in apartment buildings. This case is similar to <u>Eskridge</u> in that it involves a basement area that arguably was a common area to both tenants. Common areas in apartment buildings are by their very definition not private, but shared areas that are accessible to and used by other tenants. In this case, the basement was a shared area by the standpoint that Mr. Johnson had access to it from his unit, his utilities were located in the basement and he had every right to access it.

The Fourth Amendment accords the highest degree of protection to a person's home. <u>Trecroci</u> ¶41 Unlike the defendant in <u>Trecroci</u>, who used the

Case 2021AP000485 Brief of Respondent Filed 01-03-2022 Page 19 of 21

stairway that was at issue to get to his living quarters, Ms. Eder's use of the basement had no connection to her living quarters.

Given all of the circumstances, society would not recognize Ms. Eder's expectation of privacy as reasonable given the fact that Mr. Johnson had unfettered access to the basement and could have given consent to law enforcement to enter the basement at any time.

If this court construes <u>Eskridge</u> to mean that Ms. Eder had to meet all six of the <u>Trecroci</u> factors, the Circuit Court correctly determined that she failed to do so.

If this court applies a totality of the circumstances test under <u>Bruski</u>, the Circuit Court still correctly determined that Ms. Eder failed to meet her burden of proof on the second prong of the <u>Trecroci</u> test.

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